SUPREME COURT

SEP 1 4 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk	Frank	A	McGuire	Clerk
------------------------	-------	---	---------	-------

Deputy

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S225193 Fourth Dist. Case No. E060758

v.

RON DOUGLAS PATTERSON,
Defendant and Petitioner

Related Case No. S225194 (Re Denial of Habeas Petition) Fourth Dist. No. E061436

### PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

- 00O00 -

Following Denial of Appeal from the Judgment of The Superior Court State Of California, County Of Riverside Docket No. EE220540

AJ KUTCHINS
PO Box 5138
Berkeley, California 94705
(510) 841-5635

#### Introduction

Petitioner is a Canadian citizen who has been living legally in the United States for nearly 20 years; he works as a registered nurse in a cardiac care unit in Rancho Mirage. He had never before been in trouble with the law when, in July, 2011, a police officer spotted him weaving wildly down the highway. The officer gave chase; Petitioner eventually pulled over and emerged from his car, disoriented and incoherent. Petitioner was arrested—initially for driving under the influence—and ultimately charged with evading the officer and with possession of a variety of drugs, each found in a very small quantity in a metal box retrieved from his car.

Petitioner maintained then (and maintains now) that he was innocent: Police tests showed that he was in fact sober and drug free, and he was subsequently diagnosed with a hypoglycemic condition that resulted in further blackouts; the box of drug "samples," he says, was left in his car by someone to whom he gave a ride. But, following his lawyer's advice, he accepted a take-it-or-leave it plea bargain involving what he thought was a very lenient disposition.

What Petitioner did not know when he took the deal was that, by doing so, he was guaranteed to lose his profession and be banished forever from the country that, over nearly two decades, has become his home. When he learned of this pending catastrophe, Petitioner promptly brought on a motion to withdraw his plea pursuant to Penal Code, section 1018.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As discussed, *post*, Petitioner was not ultimately charged with either driving under the influence or being under the influence of a controlled substance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Further statutory references will be to the Penal Code, unless otherwise specified.

The trial court denied the motion, citing the fact that Petitioner had received the boilerplate advisement (per section 1016.5) to the effect that a guilty plea could possibly have adverse immigration consequences.

As this Court and the United States Supreme Court both have recently spelled out, "deportation is an integral part – indeed, sometimes the most important part – of the penalty that may be imposed on noncitizen defendants." (People v. Martinez, 57 Cal. 4th 555, 563-64 (2013); quoting, Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 364 (2010)). And it is now wellrecognized that, for such a defendant, there is a world of difference between being generally aware that there "may be" adverse immigration consequences, and the specific knowledge that he will certainly and automatically be deported and barred forever from returning to his home in the United States. INS v. St. Cyr, 533 U.S. 289, 325 (2001) ["There is a clear difference... between facing possible deportation and facing certain deportation"]; see also, Padilla, 559 U.S. at 364; United States v. Rodriguez-Vega, F.3d , 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 14291, \*20 (9th Cir. Aug. 14, 2015); *United States v. Bonilla*, 637 F.3d 980, 984 (9th Cir. 2011); Ortega-Araiza v. State, 2014 WY 99, P15 - P17, 331 P.3d 1189, 1195-97 (Sup. Ct. Wyo. 2014) Commonwealth v. DeJesus, 468 Mass. 178, 181-82 & n. 7; 9 N.E.2d 789, 795-96 & n. 7 (Sup. Jud. Ct. Mass. 2014).

Under the specific circumstances of this case, the trial court abused its discretion when it refused to let Petitioner withdraw his plea, and thus consigned him to a punishment that he did not foresee and that is far worse than any he knowingly would have accepted.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether a noncitizen defendant who has entered a guilty plea that will clearly and certainly result in mandatory deportation, whose counsel neither discerned that fact nor informed the defendant of it, and who has demonstrated a reasonable probability that she or he would not have accepted the plea had he been properly informed, should be permitted to withdraw that plea pursuant to Penal Code §1018.
- 2. Whether the fact that a noncitizen defendant has been advised of the possibility that a guilty plea "may" have adverse immigration consequences necessarily bars the defendant from withdrawing that plea, pursuant to Penal Code §1018, when he or she discovers that disastrous immigration consequences will certainly and unavoidably result from the plea.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Underlying Facts and Prejudgment Proceedings

Petitioner Ron Patterson – known as Ryan – came to the United States from his native Canada in 1996. (CT:38, 41). He entered and remains in this country legally, on a work visa; his application for Lawful Permanent Resident status has been pending since 2009, and his fondest wish is eventually to become a United States citizen. (CT:38-39, 41). He was and is a registered nurse, working in the cardiac care unit at Eisenhower Medical Center in Rancho Mirage, California.<sup>3</sup> (CT:38, 51, 54).

Petitioner had never been in any legal trouble until July 11, 2011, when a police officer saw him driving very erratically down a freeway. (CT:37, 73). Although the officer signaled for him to pull over, Petitioner kept driving, exited the freeway, and sideswiped another car going in the opposite direction before finally coming to a stop. When, at the officer's direction, Petitioner got out of his car, he was wildly disoriented. A subsequent search of his car turned up a round metal box containing small, personal-use baggies of substances that tested positive for cocaine, morphine, ecstasy, methamphetamine, and PCP. (CT:37, 73-74).

An Amended Complaint was filed in the Superior Court, Riverside, on October 22, 2012, charging Petitioner with fleeing a police officer, in violation of Vehicle Code section

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In the appellate record are a large quantity of supportive letters from Petitioner's coworkers and other community members, attesting to his diligence and sobriety. (CT:51-66). But more eloquent than those, even, is the fact that the hospital has kept him in its employ, despite his plea, while he attempts to straighten out his legal situation. (See, *e.g.*, CT:51).

2800.2 (Count 1); with transportation of small amounts of methamphetamine (Count 2) and cocaine (Count 3), in violation of Health and Safety Code sections 11379(a), and 11352(a), respectively, and with possession of small amounts of cocaine (Count 4), morphine (Count 5), MDMA (or "ecstasy" – Count 6), methamphetamine (Count 7), and PCP (Count 8), in violation of Health and Safety Code §§11377(a) and 11350(a). (CT:7-8).

The case was not as simple as it first appeared: Petitioner was subjected to a Breathalyzer test and the police obtained a blood sample; the breath test showed that he was not under the influence of alcohol, and "a report was submitted of the blood results, finding no controlled substances in the Defendant's blood." (Rev. Pet., Exh. C [Dec. of CHP Officer Robert E. West, in Support of Arrest Warrant] at p. 1 [emphasis supplied]). Instead, he was subsequently diagnosed with hypoglycemia and vasovagal syncope after (following his arrest and release) he suffered two more attacks, one of which ended in unconsciousness and a serious fall, resulting in hospitalization. (CT:37-38). That condition, he maintains, is the only possible explanation for his utterly uncharacteristic driving behavior that day. The sample box of drugs, he explains, had been left in his car – unbeknownst to him – by a friend-of-a-friend to whom he gave a ride, two days earlier. (CT:37-38, 44-45, 47-50). The passenger was subsequently identified as one Fred Kluth, a real estate agent from the Bay Area, who had been seen with the metal box, by an independent witness, on the evening of July 17, 2011, just before he got into Petitioner's car. (CT:46). Petitioner did not drive the car between the trip during which he gave Mr. Kluth a ride (on July 17th) and the fateful incident which gave rise to his arrest on July 19, 2011. (CT:37-38).

Nonetheless, presented with a seemingly lenient "take-it-now-or-leave-it" offer from the prosecutor on the day of his preliminary hearing, Petitioner – on the recommendation of his trial counsel – agreed to plead guilty to the count involving evading an officer, and a count charging simple possession of MDMA. (CT:38).

On March 13, 2013 – the same day that the prosecution's plea offer was made and the plea bargain accepted – Petitioner entered a plea of guilty to the felony violation of Vehicle Code §2800.2, charged in Count 1 and to the felony violation of Health & Safety Code §11377(a), charged in Count 6. The remaining counts were dismissed pursuant to the plea bargain. The trial court immediately went "straight to sentencing;" it suspended imposition of sentence, and placed Petitioner on three years formal probation, on condition he serve 180 days in the county jail, to be served on work release. (RT:2; CT:18-22).

## B. Immigration and Professional Consequences of the Pleas and Convictions

Petitioner's trial counsel, Tera Harden, was aware that he was a citizen of Canada. (CT:38; Exh. D at p. 3 [Dec. of Norton Tooby, Esq.]). Trial counsel told Petitioner that, because she did not practice immigration law, she could not tell him what effect his plea would have on his immigration status (CT:38), but she did read him the warning language set forth in Penal Code §1016.5, to the effect that a conviction "may have" adverse immigration consequences (Rev. Pet. Exh. D at p. 3), and in completing the Superior Court's "Felony Plea Form," Petitioner initialed a paragraph to the same effect. (CT:21).

On March 12, 2013 – the day before the prosecution proposed the plea bargain that was ultimately accepted – trial counsel proposed her own plea bargain to the prosecution,

offering for Petitioner to plead, *inter alia*, to two counts of possession of a controlled substance, in violation of Health & Safety Code §11377(a), in return for (*inter alia*) a sentence of Deferred Entry of Judgment under Penal Code §1000. (CT:46).

It was not until after Petitioner accepted the plea bargain, entered a guilty plea, was convicted and sentenced that he learned that the "convictions make my deportation mandatory, with no waiver of deportation possible; my application for a green card must be denied, and the immigration judge has no power to release me from mandatory immigration detention on bond during removal proceedings." (CT:38). The specific immigration effects of Petitioner's convictions are detailed in the record by immigration attorney Stacy Tolchin:

The conviction . . . of possession of a small amount of MDMA (ecstasy), in violation of Health & Safety Code § 11377(a), has disastrous immigration consequences for him. First, it is considered a conviction of a controlled substances offense, triggering deportation. 8 USC § 1227(a)(2)(B)(i). Second, it triggers inadmissibility as a controlled substances conviction. 8 USC §1182(a)(2)(A)(i)(II). There is no waiver available for these grounds of removal. See 8 USC §1229b(a) (cancellation of removal requires lawful permanent resident status, which Mr. Patterson does not yet have). Finally, this conviction triggers mandatory immigration detention during removal proceedings, from which the Immigration Judge has no authority to release 8 USC §§1226(c)(1)(A), (B). The net effect of these adverse him. immigration consequences is that Mr. Patterson is subject to arrest at any time on deportation charges, the Immigration Judge has no authority to release him from mandatory ICE detention on bond or otherwise, and he is barred from obtaining the Lawful Permanent Resident status for which he is otherwise qualified. This surely qualifies as an immigration disaster. These are not merely possible immigration consequences: they are certain. It is only a matter of time before these adverse immigration consequences impact his life.

(CT:41-42; see also, Exh. D at p. 2 [Dec. of N. Tooby, Esq.]).

Similarly after the fact, Petitioner also learned of another, related disaster that no one had mentioned before he accepted the plea bargain: The convictions gave rise to an "Accusation" filed by the Board of Registered Nursing which, if sustained, will result in the loss of his profession and livelihood. (CT:38; see also CT:67, et seq.).

The plea bargain proposed by trial counsel would have had the exact same, disastrous immigration and professional consequences as the one that Petitioner ultimately accepted. Despite her awareness of Petitioner's noncitizen status, trial counsel never told Petitioner – apparently because she never bothered to find out herself – of the absolute certainty of the devastating consequences that would be triggered by a plea of guilty under either the plea bargain she proposed or the one Petitioner ultimately accepted on her recommendation: the deportation, the bar from securing his pending lawful permanent resident status, mandatory immigration detention, during removal proceedings, without possibility of release on bond, and the permanent loss of his Registered Nursing license, which will follow him into deportation. (CT:38; Rev. Pet. Exh D at p. 3). Ms. Harden also failed to investigate, discover, or propose an alternative equivalent disposition that would avoid the immigration disaster – even though one clearly existed. (*Id.* at pp. 3-4).

# C. Post-Judgment Proceedings in the Trial Court

On September 13, 2013, Petitioner (represented by new counsel) filed a "Motion to Withdraw Plea," pursuant to Penal Code §1018. (CT:25, et seq.). Following briefing and a short hearing, the trial court denied the 1018 motion on January 8, 2014. (CT:93; RT:4-11). In ruling from the bench, the trial court acknowledged that "the federal consequences are disastrous," but held that the fact Petitioner had been advised (per §1016.5) that adverse immigration consequences "may" result from his convictions barred him from making out the "good cause" to withdraw his plea required under §1018. (RT:7-9, 10-11).

On May 23, 2014, Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Riverside Superior Court, asserting that he had been denied the effective assistance of counsel guaranteed by the United States and California constitutions. In an order filed on May 29, 2014 the Superior Court summarily denied the petition. By way of explanation, the trial court opined that "the petition fails to state a prima facie case" and "Petitioner has failed to establish prejudice" because (a) he had received notice per section 1016.5 that his conviction "may have" adverse immigration consequences; (b) it was not reasonably likely that the jury would have accepted his defense; (c) pursuant to his plea he was convicted of "wobblers" that can be reduced to misdemeanors, while if he had gone to trial he might have been convicted of "an irreducible felony and the same deportation consequences would apply;" and (d) he could have gone to trial if he wanted, but the trial judge found that he understood and waived his constitutional rights. (Exh. E at pp. 2-3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>As will be discussed, the first two of these explanations depend on notions of the law that are in direct opposition to the opinion of the United States Supreme Court in *Padilla v. Kentucky*, while the last two are simply *non sequiturs*.

#### D. Proceedings in the Court of Appeal

Petitioner timely filed a notice of appeal regarding the denial of his motion to withdraw the plea (CT:94), and the trial court issued a Certificate of Probable Cause to Appeal on March 7, 2014. (CT:97). While the appeal was pending, Petitioner filed an Original Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the appellate court, which ordered "informal briefing" as to whether an order to show cause should issue.

Although the Court of Appeal declined formally to consolidate the direct appeal and the habeas corpus proceeding, it issued a single "tentative opinion" as to both, scheduled them to be argued jointly, and ultimately filed a single opinion setting forth its reasons for denying both cases. (See, Rev. Pet. Exh. A).

The rationale given for denying both Petitioner's direct appeal and his habeas corpus petition—basically, that Petitioner was adequately advised of the immigration consequences of his plea when he was informed, *per* section 1016.5, that there was *some* risk a guilty plea could result in deportation—will be discussed presently, as will the appellate court's unavailing efforts to distinguish *Padilla v. Kentucky*.

#### E. Proceedings in this Court

Petitioner timely filed petitions in this Court seeking review of the denials of both his direct appeal and his *habeas corpus* petition. At the Court's suggestion, Petitioner asked that his Petition for Review pertaining to the *habeas corpus* case be treated instead as a (new) Original Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. In response, on June 17, 2015, the Court issued its Order to Show Cause, returnable before this Court, as to why the *habeas* petition should not be granted. On that same day, the Court granted review of the denial of the direct appeal in the instant case.

On April 13, 2015, while the petitions were pending before this Court, Petitioner was arrested by the federal Immigration and Customs Enforcement Agency, which commenced deportation proceedings based on his conviction in the underlying case. After some weeks, he was released on bond pending this Court's determination of these related cases.

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Fact That Petitioner Did Not Know That His Guilty Plea Will Have Unavoidable And Catastrophic Consequences, Including Mandatory Deportation And Loss Of His Professional License, Provided "Good Cause" To Withdraw That Plea Pursuant to Section 1018

Petitioner sought, and still seeks, to withdraw his guilty plea because, when he entered it, he did not know that his resulting conviction would have the automatic and unavoidable effect of shattering his life by depriving him of his profession and leaving him defenseless against arrest and indefinite detention by federal immigration authorities. That detention will end only when he is permanently banished from this country – his home for the better part

of two decades. Permitting withdrawal of a plea under such circumstances is squarely within the purpose, stated policy and language of section 1018, and the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Petitioner's motion.

Section 1018 provides, in pertinent part: "On application of the defendant at any time before judgment or within six months after an order granting probation is made if entry of judgment is suspended, the court may . . . for a good cause shown, permit the plea of guilty to be withdrawn and a plea of not guilty substituted. . . . This section shall be liberally construed to effect these objects and to promote justice." (Emphasis supplied). The extent of this liberality has frequently been reiterated as follows:

""[T]he withdrawal of a plea of guilty should not be denied in any case where it is in the least evident that the ends of justice would be subserved by permitting the defendant to plead not guilty instead; and it has been held that the least surprise or influence causing a defendant to plead guilty when he has any defense at all should be sufficient cause to permit a change of plea from guilty to not guilty.""

People v. Ramirez, 141 Cal. App. 4th 1501, 1507 (2006); quoting, People v. Dena, 25 Cal. App. 3d 1001, 1012–1013 (1972); quoting People v. McGarvy, 61 Cal. App. 2d 557, 564 (1943).<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>It is vital to recall a key consideration underlying this liberal policy: In moving to withdraw his plea, Petitioner is not seeking a free pass, or any sort of absolution from liability. On the contrary; if he succeeds, he will again be facing all of the charges leveled against him and will be forced to either negotiate a new agreement that is satisfactory to the prosecution (but less of a disaster for him), or defend himself at trial. See, People v. Martinez, 57 Cal. 4th at 565; DeBartolo v. United States, 790 F.3d 755, \_\_\_\_, 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 10831, \*5-6 (7th Cir. 2015) ["DeBartolo unquestionably wants to roll the dice, which (continued...)

Thus while the decision whether to grant a motion to withdraw a plea is committed to the discretion of the trial court (see, e.g., People v. Superior Court (Giron), 11 Cal.3d 792, 797-98 (1974)), the statute's express policy greatly tempers that discretion. As the leading commentators have summarized: "In accord with the general policy of courts to protect the defendant's opportunity for a fair hearing, even when its loss is attributable in some degree to the defendant's own neglect, P.C. 1018 provides that the statute must be liberally construed to effect those objects and to promote justice. Hence, appellate courts have frequently found discretion abused . . . ." 4 Witkin & Epstein, California Criminal Law (4th ed. 2012) Pretrial Proceedings, § 328, p. 608, discussing, inter alia, People v. Ramirez, supra; and People v. McGarvey, supra.

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