In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

No. S225193

v.

RON DOUGLAS PATTERSON,

Defendant and Appellant.

Related Appeal Supreme Court No. S225194 Court of Appeal No. E061436

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E060758 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. RIF1201642 The Honorable Helios J. Hernandez, Judge

FILED

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DEC - 7 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

SUPREME COURT

KAMALA D. HARRIS

Attorney General of California

GERALD A. ENGLER

Chief Assistant Attorney General

JULIE L. GARLAND

Senior Assistant Attorney General

STEVE OETTING

Deputy Solicitor General

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

ARGUMENT

AN INTELLIGENT AND VOLUNTARY PLEA DOES NOT REQUIRE KNOWLEDGE OF THE CERTAINTY OF DEPORTATION AS A RESULT OF THE PLEA

Appellant made an informed, voluntary decision to plead no contest at an early stage to obtain a very favorable disposition. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied appellant's motion to withdraw his plea. The trial court found that appellant entered his plea freely and knowingly, with knowledge of the risks of adverse immigration consequences. Lack of knowledge of the certainty of those consequences was not good cause for permitting withdrawal of an intelligent, freely entered guilty plea. Because appellant did not base his motion on ineffective assistance of counsel, standards applicable to that constitutional right are not applicable here. Contrary to appellant's contentions, *Padilla v. Kentucky*, which found that defense counsel may be incompetent when they fail to provide correct advice about deportation consequences, is not applicable here. (*Padilla v. Kentucky, supra*, 559 U.S. 356.)

A. Appellant Showed No Good Cause for Withdrawal of the Valid Admission of Guilt

Appellant contends that his plea was not knowledgeable, and therefore not voluntary, because he did not have adequate knowledge of the certainty of deportation as a result of the plea. (AOBM 1-29.) This contention lacks merit. California statutorily requires that a noncitizen defendant be advised of the possibility of adverse immigration consequences, and appellant received that advisement. (Pen. Code, §

1016.5, subd. (a);⁴ CT 21.) There is no other requirement for advisement on collateral consequences for an intelligent and voluntary plea. Appellant's plea was intelligent and voluntary. There was no good cause for withdrawal.

Penal Code section 1018 permits a defendant to withdraw a guilty plea if he shows good cause. ⁵ "To establish good cause to withdraw a guilty plea, the defendant must show by clear and convincing evidence that he or she was operating under mistake, ignorance, or any other factor overcoming the exercise of his or her free judgment, including inadvertence, fraud, or duress." (*People v. Archer* (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 693, 702 (*Archer*) (citations omitted); *Giron*, *supra*, 11 Cal.3d at p. 797; *People v. Breslin* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 1409, 1415-1416 (*Breslin*).) A trial court's ruling on a motion to withdraw a plea is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Only if the court's ruling was outside the bounds of reason should the court's ruling be set aside. (*People v. Fairbank* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1223, 1254 (*Fairbank*); *Breslin*, at p. 1416.)

B. Appellant Entered a Free and Knowledgeable Plea

The federal and California Constitutions require that before a criminal defendant enters a guilty plea, he must be advised of the constitutional

⁴ Penal Code section 1016.5, subdivision (a), requires that before acceptance of a guilty plea, "the court shall administer the following advisement on the record to the defendant:

If you are not a citizen, you are hereby advised that conviction of the offense for which you have been charged may have the consequences of deportation, exclusion from admission to the United States, or denial of naturalization pursuant to the laws of the United States."

Appellant received this admonition. (CT 21.)

⁵ Section 1018 provides in pertinent part: "On application of the defendant ... within six months after an order granting probation is made if entry of judgment is suspended, the court may ... for a good cause shown, permit the plea of guilty to be withdrawn and a plea of not guilty substituted."

rights that he is forfeiting. The trial court must ensure that the plea is knowing and voluntary under the totality of the circumstances. (*Boykin v. Alabama* (1969) 395 U.S. 238, 243-244; *In re Tahl* (1969) 1 Cal.3d 122; *People v. Howard* (1992) 1 Cal.4th 1132, 1175.) Trial courts must advise defendants of the direct consequences of their pleas as a matter of judicial law. (*Brady v. United States* (1970) 397 U.S. 742, 755 (*Brady*); *Bunnell v. Superior Court* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 592, 605; see *People v. Gurule* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 557, 634 (*Gurule*).)

Generally, a trial court need not advise defendants about collateral consequences. (Gurule, supra, 28 Cal.4th at p. 634.) Immigration consequences are collateral to a criminal conviction. (In re Resendiz (2001) 25 Cal.4th 230, 242; People v. Superior Court (Zamudio) (2000) 23 Cal.4th 183, 198.) Appellant has not challenged that ruling. In 1977, California created a statutory exception to the general rule for immigration consequences, requiring a trial court to advise a defendant before he pleads guilty that there may be adverse immigration consequences it he is not a citizen. (Pen. Code, § 1016.5, subd. (a).) Appellant received and acknowledged this warning. (CT 21.) The written warning satisfied the statutory requirement for the trial court to advise appellant of the possibility of adverse immigration consequences. (People v. Ramirez (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 519, 522.)

⁶ Although appellant discusses the effect on his professional license as well (AOBM 1, 8, 13), that was not raised in his petition for review and is not before the court. Notably, appellant does not contend that the effect on his professional license was a direct consequence of his plea. (See *Nollette v. State* (Nev. 2002) 46 P.3d 87, 91 ["Like other jurisdictions that have considered the issue, we hold that the loss of a professional license or employment is not a direct consequence of a guilty plea." (Footnotes and citations omitted); see also *United States v. Adoh* (9th Cir. 2012) 496 Fed.Appx. 731, 732 [exclusion from one form of employment did not make plea unknowing].)

C. Padilla v. Kentucky Did Not Change the Due Process, Judicial and Statutory Standards for an Intelligent and Voluntary Plea

Appellant contends that *Padilla* changed the requirements for a knowing and voluntary plea by requiring that a defendant convicted of a deportable offense be told that deportation will certainly result.⁷ (AOBM 20-29, citing *Padilla v. Kentucky, supra*, 559 U.S. 356.) *Padilla* requires defense attorneys to provide correct advice to noncitizen defendants of the risk of adverse immigration proceedings that result from criminal convictions. (*Id.* at pp. 367, 374.)

Padilla is not applicable here because its ruling is based on the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. The Supreme Court specifically noted that it had "never applied a distinction between direct and collateral consequences" to delineate the Sixth Amendment right to

⁷ As respondent argued in its Return to the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, at pages 22-23 (In re Patterson, S225194), deportation is never certain. This court has said, "Indeed, the deportation consequences of a conviction are not 'inexorable' in that deportation 'can be instituted only "upon the order of the Attorney General" (8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)) of the United States, who retains discretion not to institute such proceedings." (Resendiz, supra, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 242-243.) Also, the noncitizen must first come into contact with ICE. Here, for example, ICE did not contact appellant for more than two years after his conviction. (See AOBM 11; see also *People v. Arriaga* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 950, 955-956 [deportation proceedings not initiated for "some two decades" after guilty plea]; People v. Martinez (2013) 57 Cal.4th 555, 559-560 [guilty plea to sale or transportation of marijuana in 1992; removal proceedings initiated 16 to 17 years later]; People v. Villa (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1063, 1066-1067 [defendant pleaded guilty to possession of cocaine for sale in 1989; removal proceedings not initiated until 2005]; People v. Shokur (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 1398, 1402 [guilty plea to possession of marijuana for sale in 2005; removal proceedings in 2011, after defendant had been convicted of other crimes and spent a year in local custody]; People v. Aguilar (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 60, 64-65 [plea in 2005, apparently was not arrested by ICE until 2013].)

counsel, and it declined to do so there. (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 365.) This appeal does not encompass the Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel. In his motion to withdraw, appellant said that he "is not raising a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, because it is unnecessary to do so; instead, he is raising a *Giron* claim that at the time of plea, he was unaware of the mandatory detention and mandatory deportation consequences of the plea." (CT 30-31; *Giron, supra*, 11 Cal.3d 793; see also CT 26 [motion raised under Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, and parallel provisions of the California Constitution].) On direct appeal, he reiterated that he was not presenting the specific issue of ineffectiveness of counsel, but theorized that *Padilla* provided "invaluable illumination regarding the core issue in this case": whether the lack of knowledge of his own actual certainty of deportation was sufficient good cause to require withdrawal of his plea. (AOB at 2, fn. 2.)

This appeal raises only the question whether appellant's supposed ignorance of the certainty of deportation provided good cause for withdrawal of an otherwise free and knowledgeable plea. It did not.

It is wrong to conflate the *Padilla* opinion on effective representation of counsel with the separate issue of intelligent and voluntary knowledge

⁸ In *People v. Superior Court (Giron)*, decided before enactment of Penal Code section 1016.5, requiring the trial court to warn a pleading defendant of possible adverse immigration consequences, this court found that noncitizen defendants were not entitled as a matter of right to be advised of collateral immigration consequences before pleading guilty. (*Giron, supra*, 11 Cal.3d at p. 797.) Because trial courts have discretion in deciding whether to permit withdrawal of a plea, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting withdrawal of plea when the defendant had no notice at all of adverse immigration consequences before pleading to a minor crime that made him deportable. But denial of the motion would not have been an abuse of discretion, either. In that situation, the trial court had discretion to rule either way. (*Id.* at pp. 797-798.)

for a plea because the duties of defense counsel to their noncitizen clients under the Sixth Amendment are markedly different from a trial court's duty to ensure that a defendant's guilty plea is voluntary and intelligent under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. (*Resendiz*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 246; *United States v. Delgado-Ramos* (9th Cir. 2011) 635 F.3d 1237 (*Delgado-Ramos*).

In *Resendiz*, this court discussed the differences between the knowledge necessary for a voluntary plea and the information that a competent attorney is expected to provide to his client. (*Resendiz*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 242-248; see also *People v. Chien* (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 1283, 1290 [advice necessary for Pen. Code, §1016.5 different from advice necessary for competent counsel]; *Hill v. Lockhart* (1985) 474 U.S. 52, 56 [distinguishing between the information necessary for a voluntary and intelligent plea and the information competent counsel should provide].) This court in *Resendiz* explained that the right to be notified about the consequences of a plea derives from the due process requirement that pleas must be voluntarily given. The right to effective assistance of counsel, on the other hand, is based on the Sixth Amendment right to competent counsel. (*Resendiz*, at p. 243.)

Critically, "Defense counsel clearly has far greater duties toward the defendant than has the court taking a plea." (*Resendiz*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 246.) This court noted that "The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is "whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant."" (*Resendiz*, at pp. 244-245, quoting *Hill v. Lockhart*, *supra*, 474 U.S. at p. 56.)

The difference between due process requirements for a voluntary plea and the Sixth Amendment requirements for competent counsel in the aftermath of *Padilla* was discussed in *United States v. Delgado-Ramos*.

The Ninth Circuit concluded, as respondent contends, that the Supreme Court's decision in *Padilla v. Kentucky* did not affect the voluntariness of a plea in the absence of incompetent representation. A plea is knowledgeable and voluntary even if the noncitizen defendant was not advised of possible immigration consequences before he entered his plea. (*Id.* at pp. at 1240-1241.)

The defendant in *Delgado-Ramos* pleaded guilty in federal court before the Supreme Court issued its decision in *Padilla v. Kentucky*. After Padilla, the defendant sought to vacate his conviction on the ground that it was not voluntary and knowledgeable because the district court did not inform him of possible adverse immigration consequences that might result from his plea. The Ninth Circuit, like this court in *Resendiz*, noted that different standards are applied to assess whether a guilty plea is voluntary under due process principles and whether counsel performed deficiently under Sixth Amendment standards. (Delgado-Ramos, 635 F.3d at p. 1239; Resendiz, supra, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 242-248.) Due process requires that a defendant's plea be voluntary and intelligent. "A guilty plea can be voluntary even 'if the defendant did not correctly assess every relevant factor entering into his decision." (Delgado-Ramos, at p. 1239, quoting Brady v. United States, supra, 397 U.S. at p. 757.) The court recognized that changes to federal law in 1996 made deportation virtually certain for noncitizen defendants convicted of aggravated felonies. (Delgado-Ramos, at p. 1239.) Deportation required action by the federal immigration agency, however, wholly independent of the sentencing court. (*Ibid.*; compare Resendiz, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 242 ["[T]he deportation consequences of a conviction are not 'inexorable' in that deportation 'can be instituted only "upon the order of the Attorney General" of the United States, who retains discretion not to institute such proceedings." (citations omitted)].) Also, the defendant must come into contact with ICE in order for deportation

proceedings to be considered. Even though deportation was "virtually certain" for the defendant in *Delgado-Ramos*, neither due process nor Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, rule 11, required a noncitizen defendant to be informed of adverse immigration consequences in order to enter a free and knowing plea. (*Delgado-Ramos*, at p. 1239.)

Padilla did not change that rule because the defendant in Padilla claimed ineffective assistance of counsel, not a violation of due process. (Id. at p. 1240, citing Padilla, supra, 559 U.S. at p. 359.) Padilla held that professional norms required counsel to advise noncitizen defendants of the risk of deportation as a result of pleading guilty to criminal charges. (Padilla, at p. 374.) The Padilla opinion did not consider or rule on the voluntary nature of a plea under due process norms. (See Delgado-Ramos, at pp. 1240-1241.)

Similarly, when the federal rules on accepting a guilty plea were amended in 2013 in response to *Padilla*, the Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules echoed *Delgado-Ramos*, stating that, "*Padilla* was based solely on the constitutional duty of defense counsel, and it does not speak to the duty of judges." (Report of the Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules (Dec. 8, 2010); see *United States v. Nicholson* (4th Cir. 2012) 676 F.3d 376, 381-382, fn. 3.) The committee made it "clear that the court should give a general statement that there *may* be immigration consequences, not specific advice concerning a defendant's individual situation." (Advisory Committee Notes to 2013 Amendment (emphasis added.) After *Padilla*, federal courts are now required by rule to advise pleading defendants "that, if convicted, a defendant who is not a United States citizen *may* be removed from the United States, denied citizenship, and denied admission to the United States in the future." (Fed. Rules Crim.Proc., rule 11(b)(1)(O) (emphasis added).) Federal courts are under the direct supervision of the

Supreme Court and likely have more noncitizen defendants and deportable offenses nationwide than California has.

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